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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 
 
 John Stewart, the appellant below, asks this Court to review the 

Court of Appeals opinion referred to in section B.   

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Stewart requests review of the Court of Appeals decision in State 

v. Stewart, COA No. 78181-2-I, filed December 16, 2019, a copy of which 

is attached as an appendix.   

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW   

 1. The trial court used an erroneous instruction that told jurors 

they could consider the fact petitioner had been charged with crimes as 

evidence of his guilt.  While assuming the instruction was manifest 

constitutional error, the Court of Appeals found any error harmless.  Is 

review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) where the propriety and impact 

of such an instruction presents important constitutional questions?  

 2. Unlawful Imprisonment is a lesser included offense of 

Kidnapping.  Under Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 456-457, 6 P.3d 

1150 (2000), a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on a lesser crime 

where there is evidence from which jurors could conclude that only the 

lesser crime was committed to the exclusion of the greater.  In rejecting 

petitioner’s claim that his attorney was ineffective for failing to request 

instructions on Unlawful Imprisonment, the Court of Appeals confused 
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the evidence and defense arguments, and its decision conflicts directly 

with Fernandez-Medina.  Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)?   

 3. A police officer was permitted to offer opinion testimony that 

was neither relevant nor helpful to the jury under ER 702 and improperly 

undermined an important defense argument.  Is review appropriate under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the Court of Appeals’ analysis conflicts this Court’s 

prior precedent? 

 4. In closing argument, the prosecutor misstated key defense 

evidence.  Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the Court of 

Appeals analysis again conflicts with this Court’s prior precedent? 

 5. Is review also appropriate, under RAP 13.4(b)(3), of the 

issues raised in petitioner’s Statement of Additional Grounds for Review? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The King County Prosecutor’s Office charged John Stewart and 

Cameron Patterson with robbery and kidnapping in connection with the 

August 7, 2016 robbery of the Have a Heart marijuana dispensary in 

Greenwood.  CP 1-9.  Sean Sylve, a dispensary employee on duty at the 

time of the robbery, was also subsequently charged in connection with the 

incident.  CP 6-7, 13-15; RP 207-208.    

 The primary issues at trial revolved around Stewart’s knowledge 

and intent.  According to the defense, Stewart had been told, and believed 
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at the time, that everyone on duty at the dispensary was in on a plan to 

steal money and marijuana from the store, and the goal was simply to 

make it look like a robbery for the security cameras so that ownership and 

management would not suspect employees’ involvement in the theft.  RP 

1102-1106.  Stewart subsequently learned, after his arrest, that only one of 

the employees (Sylve) had actually been aware of the plan.  RP 314.    

   On Sunday, August 7, 2016, Sylve was working with Alaina 

Wells and Makenna O’Meara.  RP 207, 215.  As closing time approached, 

Sylve was “antsy” and adamant that he would do the perimeter sweep 

around the building – a quick look around outside the store designed to 

ensure no one posing a threat to the store or employees is waiting outside 

with ill intent.   RP 211-212; 335-336, 459.  With Wells and O’Meara still 

inside the store completing the tasks necessary for closing, Sylve left to do 

the security sweep.  RP 336, 459.  Wells locked the door – the only entry 

and exit point to the store – as Sylve left.  RP 212, 337. 

 Damon Martinez, the store manager, watched the employees  

remotely from his home using several security cameras inside the store.  

RP 209, 218-221, 337.  Sylve was gone much longer than typical for a 

security sweep and eventually returned to the door with two individuals 

(Patterson and Stewart).  RP 212, 221-224, 251-255, 336, 461.  Sylve 

knocked and Wells unlocked the door, opening it slightly.  RP 337-338, 
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461.  Sylve said, “We are getting robbed,” and Wells attempted to quickly 

close the door again.  RP 337-338.  Patterson wrenched the door open, 

however, and all three men entered the store.  RP 338.      

 At gunpoint, Wells, O’Meara, and Sylve were told to get on the 

floor.  RP 341, 463-464.  While Stewart held the pistol, Patterson used zip 

ties to fasten the employees’ wrists behind their backs.  RP 338-343, 464, 

856-857.  Martinez called 911 from his home.  RP 224-225. 

   For approximately the next 13 minutes, Patterson and Stewart took 

cash from a safe and merchandise, which they loaded into duffel bags.  RP 

344-346, 465-467; exhibit 4.  When they exited the store, police were 

waiting and both were arrested without incident.  RP 393-397, 490-491, 

512-517.  The two men seemed surprised.  RP 635, 641-642.  A .40 

caliber semi-automatic pistol was recovered from the sidewalk.  RP 404.  

Sylve subsequently admitted his participation, denied any other employees 

had been involved, and claimed that he was forced to participate by an 

individual named Harold Murphy.  RP 676-677, 683-685.        

 By the time of trial, Patterson had pleaded guilty to Robbery in the 

First Degree and Unlawful Imprisonment to avoid additional charges and 

an even longer sentence.  RP 764, 780, 784.  Patterson testified that, three 

or four weeks prior to August 7, 2016, he was invited to participate in the 

theft of what he was told was approximately $150,000 and 50 lbs. of 
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marijuana.  RP 756-757.  Sylve was present for the conversation.  RP 757.  

They were to make it look like a robbery, the employees would then quit, 

and the proceeds would be split seven ways.  RP 757.  Sylve indicated he, 

a security guard, and two female employees were in on the plan.  RP 765.  

According to Patterson, he subsequently told Stewart about the 

opportunity to be involved and told him that all store employees “were in 

on it.”  RP 752, 766-767.  Since everyone at the store was involved, 

neither Patterson nor Stewart thought of it as a big deal.  RP 766.    

 Patterson testified that, right around August 7, he was told to get in 

touch with Stewart again and he did so.  RP 769-770.  He then met 

Stewart at a mutual friend’s house in Everett on August 7.  RP 753.  An 

individual whom Patterson refused to name then drove Patterson and 

Stewart to Seattle.  RP 753-754.  That individual was texting one or more 

individuals at Have a Heart, said “everybody was there” and the plan was 

a “go.”  RP 756.  The individual then provided Patterson and Stewart with 

the masks and zip ties.  RP 755-756.  Stewart did not have the gun back at 

the Everett house, and Patterson did not see who gave it to him.  RP 756.    

  Consistent with Patterson’s testimony, Stewart testified that he 

signed up for a “staged robbery.”  RP 798.  Patterson had assured him 

everyone at the store was involved and that they merely had to make it 



 -6-

look like a robbery.  RP 797-798, 817-818.  Patterson also assured Stewart 

that no one would be watching through the security cameras.  RP 815-818.     

 Stewart testified that the individual who picked them up in Everett 

and drove them to Seattle went by the nickname “HP.”  RP 802-803.  This 

was the first and only time Stewart met him.  RP 864.  Like Patterson, 

Stewart testified that the masks, zip ties and other items used were 

provided by HP.  RP 810-813.  Sylve, however, provided Stewart with the 

gun when the two met for the first time just outside Have a Heart.  RP 

814.  It felt heavy, so Stewart figured there were some rounds in the 

magazine.  He checked and confirmed there was no round in the chamber.  

RP 815-816.  And since the robbery was staged, at no time did he have his 

finger on the trigger while inside the store.  RP 816.  They took their time 

inside the store because they did not believe there was any reason to rush.  

Stewart had trusted Patterson and his information.  RP 845.                 

 During closing arguments, defense counsel argued that Stewart had 

been misled into believing that everyone at Have a Heart was in on the 

planned theft, which was all that Stewart had signed up for, and the 

“robbery” was merely a show for the cameras.  RP 972-979, 990.  Counsel 

argued Stewart was not guilty of robbery because the force he used was 

solely for purpose of a ruse rather than for obtaining property. RP 979-981, 

983-984, 990.  On the two kidnapping charges, defense counsel argued 
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Stewart was not guilty because he thought he had the consent of Wells and 

O’Meara to restrain them and their restraint was not done with intent to 

commit a robbery (merely a theft).  RP 981-982, 984, 990.     

 Jurors convicted Stewart as charged on all three counts.  CP 57-62; 

RP 1010-1011.  Judge Ramsdell imposed a total sentence of 192 months, and 

Stewart appealed.  CP 93-103, 107.  On appeal, Stewart made multiple 

claims.  See Brief of Appellant, at 12-36; Reply Brief, at 1-15.   Those 

claims, and the grounds for this Court’s review, are discussed below.      

E. ARGUMENT 

 1. INSTRUCTIONAL ERROR 

 Each juror that ultimately decided Stewart’s case was given the 

following instruction during jury selection: 

The information that I just read to you is merely an 
accusation against the defendant, which informs him of the 
nature of the charges.  You are not to consider the filing of 
the information or its contents alone as proof of the matters 
charged therein.    
 

RP 1075 (emphases added).  In other words, the filing of the information 

and its contents could be considered proof of the matters charged so long 

as it was not used by jurors as the lone proof.  

 The United States and Washington constitutions guarantee the 

fundamental right to a fair trial.  U.S. Const. amends. VI and XIV; Const. 

art 1, § 22.  The United States Supreme Court has held that “[c]entral to 
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the right to a fair trial, guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments, is the principle that ‘one accused of a crime is entitled to 

have his guilt or innocence determined solely on the basis of the evidence 

introduced at trial, and not on grounds of official suspicion, indictment, 

continued custody, or other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial.’”  

Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 567, 106 S. Ct. 1340, 89 L. Ed. 2d 525 

(1986) (quoting Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 485, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 

L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978)). 

 The Court of Appeals assumed, without deciding, that the 

instruction used at Stewart’s trial was manifest constitutional error.  Slip 

Op., at 1, 4.  But citing State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 355 P.3d 253 

(2015), the Court of Appeals found the error harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Slip Op., at 5-7.  The Court of Appeals relied heavily 

on the fact jurors were also instructed (immediately before the offending 

language) that the information “is merely an accusation” and thereafter 

received correct instructions, including one (at the end of trial) indicating 

“[t]he filing of a charge is not evidence that the charge is true.  Your 

decisions as jurors must be made solely upon the evidence presented 

during these proceedings.”  Slip Op., at 5-6.    

   Kalebaugh is easily distinguished.  In Kalebaugh, the trial judge 

gave completely proper oral and written instructions on reasonable doubt, 



 -9-

both of which indicated a “reasonable doubt” is one for which a reason 

exists.  183 Wn.2d at 581-582.  But the judge also gave an improper “subtle 

suggestion” that jurors must give a reason to doubt the defendant’s guilt.  Id. 

at 582, 586.  The defense conceded on appeal that the judge’s subtle remark 

“could live quite comfortably” with the final correct instructions, conceding 

the absence of prejudice.  Id. at 585.   

 Unlike Kalebaugh, Stewart’s jurors did not similarly receive a proper 

oral instruction on the issue at hand – use of the information and charges.  

The error here was prejudicial.  The incorrect oral instruction transformed the 

weight and prestige of the prosecutor’s office into proof of Stewart’s guilt 

and undermined his arguments for acquittal.  See BOA at 15-18.    

 “It is a well established rule that jury instructions must be 

considered in their entirety.”  Brown v. Spokane County Fire Protection 

Dist. No. 1, 100 Wn.2d 188, 194, 668 P.2d 571 (1983).  They are 

interpreted in a straightforward and commonsense manner.  State v. 

Pittman, 134 Wn. App. 376, 382-383, 166 P.3d 720 (2006), abrogated on 

other grounds by State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).   

 Considering both the erroneous oral instruction and later, correct 

written instruction in their entirety, common sense dictates that jurors 

would have interpreted the written instruction as a simple reminder that 

the filing of the charges was not evidence the charge was true.  Rather, as 
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the oral instruction had informed them, the filing of charges could only be 

considered evidence in conjunction with other evidence presented.  It 

defies commonsense to conclude, as the Court of Appeals did, that jurors 

would have interpreted the written instruction as directly contradicting 

what they had been told orally at the outset of the case.  Jurors would have 

harmonized them to Stewart’s detriment. 

 The constitutionality of an instruction like that used at Stewart’s 

trial, and the impact of such an instruction, presents a significant question 

of constitutional law this Court should decide under RAP 13.4(b)(3).     

2. FAILURE TO ASK FOR INSTRUCTIONS ON 
UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT 

 
 Unlawful imprisonment is a lesser included offense of kidnapping.  

See State v. Davis, 177 Wn. App. 454, 461, 311 P.3d 1278 (2013) (citing 

State v. Russell, 104 Wn. App. 422, 449 n. 61, 16 P.3d 664 (2001), review 

denied, 179 Wn.2d 1025, 320 P.3d 719 (2014); State v. Hansen, 46 Wn. 

App. 292, 296, 730 P.2d 706 (1986)).  Yet, at trial, defense counsel failed 

to ask for instructions on this offense for the kidnapping counts.   

 The Court of Appeals’ discussion of this issue – and ultimate 

decision that Stewart was not entitled to instructions on unlawful 

imprisonment – is confused.  The Court of Appeals’ decision turns on this 

assertion: under any theory of the evidence, jurors: 
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would be required to acquit Stewart of the charged crime of 
kidnapping and the requested lesser included of unlawful 
imprisonment because restraint is included in each offense.  
“Where acceptance of the defendant’s theory of the case 
would necessitate acquittal on both the charged offense and 
the lesser included offense, the evidence does not support 
an inference that only the lesser was committed.” 
 

Slip op., at 10-11 (quoting State v. Speece, 56 Wn. App. 412, 419, 783 

P.2d 1108 (1989), aff’d, 115 Wn.2d 360, 798 P.2d 294 (1990)).   

 This analysis is confused because, in making this assertion, the 

Court of Appeals cites to argument in Stewart’s briefing pointing to 

multiple ways in which jurors could have found restraint despite Stewart’s 

testimony that he believed the employees had consented to involvement in 

the crimes.  The relevant point is that jurors may have found restraint, but 

concluded Stewart was guilty only of the lesser included offense of 

unlawful imprisonment because they had reasonable doubt about whether 

Stewart restrained the women “with intent to facilitate commission of 

Robbery in the First Degree,” an element only of the greater charged 

kidnapping offenses that the defense disputed.  It is simply not true that 

accepting the defense theory necessitated acquittal on both Kidnapping in 

the First Degree and Unlawful Imprisonment.   

 Under State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 456-457, 6 

P.3d 1150 (2000), a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on a lesser 

crime where there is evidence from which jurors could conclude that only 
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the lesser crime was committed to the exclusion of the greater.  The Court 

of Appeals decision in this case conflicts directly with Fernandez-Medina.  

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).    

 3. IMPROPER OPINION TESTIMONY 

 When police recovered the pistol Stewart had been holding inside 

the dispensary, there were rounds in the magazine but none in the 

chamber.  RP 405-406, 553, 556-558.  Seattle Police Officer Marcus 

Matusky testified that, to make the gun actually fire, one would first have 

to “rack the slide,” meaning grab the slide on top of the firearm, pull it 

back about four inches, let it go, and then pull the trigger.  RP 405-406.    

 Although Officer Matusky covered this topic during his testimony, 

the prosecutor subsequently asked Seattle Police Officer Patrick 

Baughman to cover the same ground: 

Q: All right. 

 And can you explain to us what you mean  when 
 you say there wasn’t a round in the  chamber? 
 
 For those of us that maybe aren’t familiar with 
 guns, what does that mean?  
 
A: That requires an extra step to actually have the 
 gun fire.  You have to cycle the slide for a  round 
 to be in the chamber for the – for it to 
 function.  That is generally how I would say  most 
 people carry pistols, but it is not uncommon for that 
 to happen as well. 
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RP 557-558 (emphasis added).   

 Before the prosecutor could complete another question, defense 

counsel objected to Officer Baughman’s “improper opinion.”  RP 558.  

The objection was overruled.  RP 558.  This was error. 

 Title VII of the Rules of Evidence addresses expert opinions and 

testimony.  ER 702 provides: 

 If scientific, technical, or other specialized 
knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the 
evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified 
as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 
education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or 
otherwise. 
 

Admission under the rule requires that the opinion is both relevant and 

helpful to the jury.  State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003).  

Officer Baughman’s was neither.   

 The Court of Appeals concluded that Officer Baughman’s 

testimony was properly admitted because it had some tendency to 

undermine Stewart’s belief that the robbery was staged.  Slip Op., at 13.  

But whether “most people” carry pistols without a round in the chamber 

was irrelevant under ER 401, since it had no tendency to make the 

existence of any fact of consequence at Stewart’s trial more or less 

probable.  Specifically, what “most people” do in this regard was not 

helpful in deciding what Stewart did on the particular and relevant 



 -14-

occasion.  Unfortunately, however, once the improper opinion was 

permitted over defense objection, jurors would have felt free to consider it 

for this very purpose.   

 The mistaken admission of evidence requires reversal if, within 

reasonable probability, it materially affected the outcome.  State v. 

Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).  “The improper 

admission of evidence constitutes harmless error [only] if the evidence is 

of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence 

as a whole.”  State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 

(1997).   

 Officer Baughman’s opinion testimony was not harmless.  Stewart 

testified that, when Sylve provided him with the pistol, it felt heavy, so he 

checked and confirmed there was no round in the chamber before entering 

Have a Heart and pointing the gun at employees.  RP 814-816.  During 

closing argument, defense counsel argued that the absence of a round in 

the chamber was consistent with Stewart’s belief that he was merely 

“putting on a show for the cameras” and not engaged in an actual robbery 

and kidnapping.  RP 976.  But Baughman’s testimony that this was the 

manner in which most people carry pistols improperly undermined this 

evidence and line of argument.  It suggested that, rather than reflecting 
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Stewart’s beliefs and concern for the others involved in the scheme, it was 

simply consistent with the manner in which most people carry pistols.   

 In the absence of the improper admission of Officer Baughman’s 

opinion testimony, the evidence of Stewart’s guilt – particularly 

concerning the kidnapping counts – was not overwhelming.  This 

improper evidence undermined Stewart’s claim that he never intended to 

commit a Robbery in the First Degree, an element of both kidnapping 

charges.  Reversal is therefore appropriate.    

 Because the Court of Appeals’ analysis conflicts with ER 702 and 

this Court’s decision in Cheatam, review is appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b)(1).         

 4. MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING 

 A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer, obligated to seek verdicts 

free of prejudice and based on reason.  State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 

664-65, 585 P.2d 142 (1978); State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 

P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096, 89 S. Ct. 886, 21 L. Ed. 2d 

787 (1969).  A prosecutor has a special duty in trial to act impartially in 

the interests of justice and not as a "heated partisan."  State v. Reed, 102 

Wn.2d 140, 147, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).  He may "strike hard blows, [but] 

he is not at liberty to strike foul ones."  Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 

78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1935).   
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Consistent with these duties, prosecutors may not misstate the 

evidence or argue facts unsupported by the record that may prejudice the 

jury’s assessment of the case.   State v. Reeder, 46 Wn.2d 888, 892, 285 

P.2d 884 (1955); State v. Guizzotti , 60 Wn. App. 289, 296, 803 P.2d 808, 

review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1026, 812 P.2d 102 (1991).    

 While Stewart was the most important defense witness, Cameron 

Patterson was a close second.  Patterson’s sworn testimony was consistent 

with Stewart’s in every critical way – from how Stewart became involved 

to what Stewart had been told about the employees’ participation.   

 On that latter topic, Patterson testified that all he had ever heard 

was that everyone at the dispensary was involved, and this is precisely 

what he told Stewart.  RP 766-767.  Although Patterson indicated this was 

the first time in court that he had said everyone was in on the planned 

theft, he clearly denied this was the first time he had made that claim.  RP 

780, 784.  Patterson testified that, following his arrest in September 2016, 

he told his attorney, Mark Adair; he told his next attorney, Sam Wolfe, in 

October 2016; he told his next attorney, John Crowley, in November 

2016; he told his next attorney, John Henry Browne, in December 2016; 

and he told his next attorney, Cory Parker, in February 2017.  RP 785-786.  

He also told non-lawyers every time he discussed the situation.  RP 786.   
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 Despite this testimony, during the State’s rebuttal closing 

argument, the prosecutor misstated the evidence on this subject to 

undermine Patterson’s credibility: 

 And Patterson’s versions of events are similar, 
utterly lacking in credibility. 
 
 He testified here in court for the defense that Sylve 
told him everyone was in on it; that he passed that 
information on to the defendant who never even met Sylve. 
 
 But you also heard that Mr. Patterson did not tell 
the story to the police when he was arrested.  He did not 
tell this story to the police after he was charged with 
robbery and kidnapping.  He didn’t tell this story as his 
case proceeded.  He did not tell this story to the court when 
he pled guilty to robbery in the first degree with a firearm, 
when he pled guilty to unlawfully imprisoning Alaina and 
Makenna. 
 
 It was not until he was called to testify by his friend 
John Stewart that he comes up with this story for the first 
time. 
 
 DEFENSE: Objection, misstatement of the facts.  
  
 COURT: I am going to overrule the objection.  
The jury heard the trial.  The jury will determine whether 
the argument is supported by the facts or not. 
 
 PROSECUTOR: Just one of the reasons that 
you know that what he’s telling you is not credible. 
 

RP 991-992 (emphasis added) 

 Defense counsel was correct.  The prosecutor had misstated the 

evidence.  There was no evidence to support her assertion that Patterson 
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had invented the story only when called to testify.  Rather, Patterson 

indicated that, since shortly after his arrest, he had consistently told every 

attorney and everyone else he had spoken to that everyone at Have a Heart 

was supposedly in on the scheme.  See RP 780, 784-786.  

 The Court of Appeals took no issue with the prosecutor’s assertion 

that that “It was not until he was called to testify by his friend John 

Stewart that he comes up with this story for the first time,” finding this to 

be a reasonable inference.  It was not.  But the Court agreed the prosecutor 

had misstated that “Patterson didn’t tell this story as his case proceeded.”  

Slip op., at 15.  The Court, however, found the misconduct harmless.  Slip 

op., at 15-16.   

 Where the defense lodged a proper and timely objection to 

misconduct, reversal is appropriate where there is a substantial likelihood 

it affected the jury’s verdict.  State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 

P.3d 653 (2012).  The improper argument is reviewed “‘in the context of 

the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the 

argument, and the instructions given to the jury.’”  State v. McKenzie, 157 

Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (quoting State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 

529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). 

 There is a substantial likelihood the prosecutor’s misconduct 

affected the jury’s verdicts here.  Defense counsel argued that Stewart was 
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an unwitting participant in any robbery and kidnapping, did not have the 

requisite criminal intent, and should not be held accountable under the 

circumstances.   Patterson’s testimony was entirely consistent with this 

position.  Yet, by misstating the evidence and Patterson’s testimony, the 

prosecutor was able to improperly undermine Patterson’s credibility.   

 Moreover, two additional circumstances magnified the impact of 

the prosecutor’s already prejudicial arguments.  First, the improper 

argument was made in the State’s rebuttal closing argument.  See State v. 

Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 443, 326 P.3d 124 (2014).  Second, Judge 

Ramsdell overruled defense counsel’s objection, essentially placing the 

court’s imprimatur on the prosecutor's statement.   See State v. Davenport, 

100 Wn.2d 757, 764, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).  Reversal is warranted.       

 Because the Court of Appeals decision on this issue conflicts with 

prior precedent from this Court (including Lindsay and Davenport), 

review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).   

 5. STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS (SAG) 

 In his SAG, Stewart made challenges to the sufficiency of the 

evidence, challenges to the jury instructions, additional claims of 

prosecutorial misconduct, and constitutional challenges to the kidnapping 

statute.  See SAG (filed 5/7/19).  Stewart also asks this Court to review the 

issues raised in his SAG.  Stewart disagrees with the Court’s resolution of 
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the issues, which present important constitutional issues under RAP 

13.4(b)(3).   

F. CONCLUSION 

 John Stewart respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition. 

  DATED this 14TH day of January, 2020.                         

  Respectfully submitted,                                 

  NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 

 

  ________________________ 
    DAVID B. KOCH, WSBA No. 23789 

  Office ID No. 91051 
Attorneys for Petitioner  
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VERELLEN, J. - John Stewart appeals his conviction of one count of first 

degree robbery with a firearm enhancement and two counts of first degree 

kidnapping with firearm enhancements. 

At the start of jury selection, the court read the information and cautioned 

the jury, "You are not to consider the filing of the information or its contents alone 

as proof of the matters charged therein."1 Defense counsel did not object. 

Assuming, without deciding, this pretrial oral instruction constitutes a manifest 

constitutional error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because 

contemporaneous and later instructions corrected the error. 

Because the error was harmless, defense counsel's failure to object was 

not ineffective. Additionally, defense counsel was not deficient for failing to 

1 Report of Proceedings (RP) (Nov. 28, 2107) at 1075. 
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request an instruction on unlawful imprisonment as a lesser included of kidnapping 

because Stewart does not establish he was entitled to such an instruction. 

During trial, the court allowed a police officer to testify about how most 

people carry pistols. The court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted this 

testimony because it was relevant and helpful to the jury. 

Finally, Stewart fails to establish the prosecutor committed prejudicial 

misconduct during closing argument or to establish any other grounds for re[ief in 

his statement of additional grounds. 

Therefore, we affirm. 

FACTS 

On August 7, 2016, Sean Sylve, Alaina Wells, and Makenna O'Meara were 

working at Have a Heart Marijuana Dispensary in the Greenwood neighborhood of 

Seattle. As they closed for the night, the store manager, Damon Martinez, 

watched remotely via video surveiflance. Sylve performed the final security check 

of the store's exterior. After checking the exterior, Sylve returned to the door with 

two men, John Stewart and Cameron Patterson. 

Stewart and Patterson forced their way into the store. Stewart pointed a 

gun at the employees and ordered them to get on the floor. Patterson zip tied the 

employee~' hands behind their backs. Stewart and Patterson removed cash from 

the store safe, ransacked the sales floor, and stuffed marijuana and other products 

into two duffel bags. When Stewart and Patterson left the store, police were 

already in the parking lot and arrested both men. 

2 
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Eventually, Sylve admitted he was involved in the robbery. The State 

charged Stewart, along with Patterson and Sylve, with one count of first degree 

robbery and two counts of first degree kidnapping. Each count carried a firearm 

enhancement. The jury convicted Stewart as charged. 

Stewart appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. Jury Instruction 

Stewart contends the court violated his right to a fair trial when it instructed 

the jury they could consider the filing of the information as evidence of guilt. 

We review a challenged jury instruction de novo. 2 

The United States Constitution and the Washington Constitution guarantee 

the right to a fair trial. 3 

Central to the right to a fair trial ... is the principle that "one accused 
of a crime is entitled to have his guilt or innocence determined solely 
on the basis of the evidence introduced at trial, and not on grounds 
of official suspicion, indictment, continued custody, or other 
circumstances not adduced as proof at trial."[4l 

As a threshold matter, the State argues Stewart cannot challenge the 

preliminary jury instruction for the first time on appeal. Under RAP 2.5(a), "[t]he 

appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the 

2 State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656-57, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). 
3 U.S. CONST. amends. VI, XIV; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22. 
4 Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 567, 106 S. Ct. 1340, 89 L. Ed. 2d 525 (1986) (quoting Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478,485, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978)). 

3 
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trial court." But a party may raise a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" 

for the first time on appeal. 5 

Our Supreme Court has held the following instructional errors constitute 

manifest constitutional error: directing a verdict, shifting the burden of proof to the 

defendant, failing to define the beyond a reasonable doubt standard, failing to 

require a unanimous verdict, and omitting an element of the crime charged. 6 On 

the other hand, our Supreme Court has held the following instructional errors do 

not constitute manifest constitutional error: failure to instruct on a lesser included 

offense and failure to define individual terms. 7 

At the start of jury selection, the court read the information and cautioned 

the jury pool, "You are not to consider the filing of the information or its contents 
' alone as proof of the matters charged therein."8 The defense did not object. 

Stewart argues the court erred when it instructed the jury they could consider the 

filing of the information as evidence of guilt. 

Even assuming, without deciding, the claimed instructional error is a 

manifest constitutional error that Stewart can raise for the first time on appeal, we 

5 RAP 2.5(a)(3). 
6 State v. O'Hara, 167Wn.2d 91, 100-01, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (citing State v. Peterson, 73 Wn.2d 303, 306, 438 P.2d 183 (1968); State v. McCu!lum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 487-88, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); State v. McHenry, 88 Wn.2d 211, 214, 558 P.2d 188 (1977); State v. Carothers, 84 Wn.2d 256, 262, 525 P.22d 731 (1974); State v. Johnson, 100 Wn.2d 607, 623, 674 P.2d 145 (1983)). 
7 kl at 101 (citing State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 745-49, 718 P.2d 407 (1986); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 690-91, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)). 
8 RP (Nov. 28, 2017) at 1075 (emphasis added). 

4 
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must still consider whether the error was harmless. 9 The constitutional harmless 

error standard is satisfied when the State proves harmlessness beyond a 

reasonable doubt.10 "This stringent standard can be met if there is overwhelming 

evidence of the defendant's guilt that is not tainted by the error."11 We analyze a 

challenged jury instruction "in the context of the instructions as a whole."12 

Here, immediately before the challenged oral instruction, the court 

instructed the jury, "The information that I just read to you is merely an accusation 

against the defendant."13 And after the instruction at issue, the court instructed the 

jury, "It will be your duty as jurors to determine the facts in this case from the 

evidence produced in court."14 The next day, after the jury was selected and 

before opening statements, the court instructed the jury, "Evidence is what you 

hear from the witnesses and the exhibits that get admitted into evidence."15 

The trial lasted one week. Before closing arguments, the court instructed 

the jury, "It is your duty to decide the facts in this case based upon the evidence 

presented to you during this trial."16 The court also instructed the jury, 

9 O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99 ("[A] harmless error analysis occurs after the 
court determines the error is a manifest constitutional error."). 

10 State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 303, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (quoting 
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)). 

11 Ht 
12 Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 656-57. 
13 RP (Nov. 28, 2017) at 1075. 
14 Ht 
15 RP (Nov. 29, 2017) at 1082. 
16 RP (Dec. 7, 2017) at 945. 

5 
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Keep in mind that a charge is only an accusation. The filing of a 
charge is not evidence that the charge is true. Your decisions as 
jurors must be made solely upon the evidence presented during 
these proceedings. 

The evidence that you are to consider during your deliberations 
consists of the testimony that you have heard from witnesses, 
stipulations, and the exhibits that I have admitted during the trial.f17l 

And finally, the court instructed the jury, "You must decide the case solely on the 

evidence and the law before you."18 During closing argument, defense counsel 

stated, "[T]he fact that the government filed an information, and in your first 

instruction-it is not evidence of his guilt of these charges."19 

Unlike the awkward preliminary oral instruction, the court's final oral and 

written instructions clearly and correctly instructed the jury that they may not 

consider the filing of charges as evidence. It is unlikely the jury woul.d have 

ignored the written instructions in favor of an earlier oral instruction given at the 

start of jury selection.20 

17 l.9.c 
18 & at 950. 
19 & at 979. 
20 See State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 586, 355 P.3d 253 (2015) (In 

holding a manifest constitutional instructional error harmless, the court stated, 
"Most importantly, at the end of the case the jurors were provided with the correct 
legal instruction .... [W]e do not find it plausible to believe that the jury retained 
these particular oral remarks made before jury selection three days earlier, ignored 
the other oral and written instructions, and applied the incorrect legal standard."). 
Stewart argues that Kalebaugh is distinguishable, but we conclude the core 
observation is applicable to the facts in this case. 

6 
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Because the court's written instructions corrected any potential error, the 

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Stewart does not establish any 

reversible error. 

II. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Stewart claims he received ineffective assistance of counsel. 

We review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo. 21 The 

defendant bears the burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel. 22 First, 

the defendant must prove counsel's performance was deficient.23 Second, the 

defendant must show counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense.24 

Generally, courts strongly presume counsel's representation was 

effective.25 "To prove deficient performance, a defendant must demonstrate that 

the representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under 

professional norms and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's 

error, the result would have been different.26 

21 State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870,883,204 P.3d 916 (2009). 
22 State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33,246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (quoting 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 
(1984 )). 

23 & (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). 
24 & (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). 
25 State v. Townsend, 142 Wn.2d 838, 843, 15 P.3d 145 (2001) (quoting 

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P .2d 1251 (1995)). 
26 & at 843-44. 

7 
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a. Failure to Object to Preliminary Instruction 

First, Stewart contends he received ineffective assistance of counsel 

because his defense counsel did not object to the court's preliminary jury 

instruction. Because this instructional error was harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt, Stewart's defense counsel's failure to object was not ineffective. 

b. Failure to Request Lesser Included Instruction 

Second, Stewart argues he received ineffective assistance of counsel 

because his defense counsel did not request an instruction on unlawful 

imprisonment, the lesser included offense of kidnapping. 

To show defense counsel was deficient, Stewart must show he was entitled 

to the instruction. "A defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included 

offense when (1) each of the elements of the lesser included offense is a 

necessary element of the charged offense and (2) the evidence in the case 

supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed."27 Courts refer to the 

first part of the test as the "legal prong" and the second part as the "factual 

prong."28 On appeal, the State does not contest the legal prong. 29 

27 State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 742, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015). 
28 State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 546, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). 
29 See Resp't's Br. at 22, n.1; see State v. Davis, 177 Wn. App. 454, 461, 

311 P.3d 1278 (2013) ("Although unlawful imprisonment is not specifically 
designated by statute as a lesser degree of kidnapping, for several reasons, we 
conclude that for purpose of the merger analysis, it should be considered as 
such.") 

8 
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We review a trial court's decision under the factual prong for abuse of 

discretion.30 When analyzing the factual prong, we view "the evidence in the light 
most favorable to the party requesting the instruction."31 The evidence must raise 
an inference that only the lesser included offense was committed instead of the 

charged offense.32 

Stewart was charged with first degree kidnapping under 

RCW 9A.40.020(1)(b), which provides: "A person is guilty of kidnapping in the first 
degree if he or she intentionally abducts another person with intent ... [t]o 

facilitate commission of any felony or flight thereafter." "'Abduct' means to restrain 
a person by either (a) secreting or holding him or her in a place where he or she is 
not likely to be found, or (b) using or threatening to use deadly force."33 

Stewart asserts defense counsel was deficient because he did not request 
an instruction on unlawful imprisonment, the lesser included offense of kidnapping. 
"A person is guilty of unlawful imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains 

another person."34 

"Restrain" means to restrict a person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with his or her liberty. Restraint is "without consent" if it is accomplished by (a) physical force, intimidation, or deception, or (b) any means including acquiescence of the victim, if he or she is a child less than sixteen years old or an incompetent person and if the 

30 Henderson, 182 Wn.2d at 743. 
31 State v. Wade, 186 Wn. App. 749, 772, 346 P.3d 838 (2015). 
32 State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P .3d 1150 (2000). 
33 RCW 9A.40.010(1) (emphasis added). 
34 RCW 9A.40.040(1) (emphasis added). 

9 
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parent, guardian, or other person or institution having lawful control 
or custody of him or her has not acquiesced.l35l 

Here, according to the video suNeillance footage, Stewart and Patterson 

forced their way into the store. Stewart pointed a gun at the employees and 

ordered them to get on the floor. Patterson zip tied the employees' hands behind 

their backs. Stewart and Patterson removed cash from the store safe, ransacked 

the sales floor, stuffed marijuana and other products into two duffel bags, and 

attempted to flee. When Stewart and Patterson left the store, police were already 

in the parking lot and arrested both men. 

At trial, Stewart testified it was his understanding that all of the dispensary 

employees were in on the staged robbery. He argues this raises an inference that 

only unlawful imprisonment was committed instead of kidnapping. His argument 

turns on the definition of "restraint." In his reply brief, Stewart offers several ways 

the jury could interpret his testimony to find him guilty only of unlawful 

imprisonment.36 But if the jury interpreted Stewart's testimony under any of these 

theories, they would be required to acquit Stewart of the charged crime of 

35 RCW 9A.40.010(6). 
36 Appellant's Reply Br. at 9-10 ("First, jurors could have found that, even if 

Stewart had been told the women were allies, he nonetheless knowingly acted 
without the women's consent because he had 'information that would lead a 
reasonable person in the same situation' to be believe their consent had not been 
obtained .... Second, jurors may have concluded that Stewart reasonably 
believed the women had consented to some level of restraint, but not the level 
actually employed .... Third, ... LJ]urors could have found that Stewart, armed 
with a gun and pointing at the women, accomplished restraint by knowingly using 
force and intimidation regardless of what he otherwise may have understood to be 
their consent, thereby vitiating that consent. Fourth, jurors may simply have found 
the absence of valid consent based on the prosecutor's argument."). 

10 
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kidnapping and the requested lesser included of unlawful imprisonment because 

restraint is included in each offense. "Where acceptance of the defendant's theory 

of the case would necessitate acquittal on both the charged offense and the lesser 

included offense, the evidence does not support an inference that only the lesser 

was committed."37 

Because the evidence does not support an inference that Stewart 

committed unlawful imprisonment rather than kidnapping, he was not entitled to an 

instruction on the lesser included offense. Stewart fails to establish defense 

counsel's representation was ineffective. 

Ill. Improper Opinion Testimony 

Stewart contends Officer Baughman offered improper opinion testimony, in 

violation of ER 702 and 401. We review a court's admission of evidence for abuse 

of discretion.38 "An abuse of discretion exists '[w]hen a trial court's exercise of its 

discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or 

reasons.'"39 

ER 702 provides, "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will 

assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a 

witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 

education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." 

37 State v. Speece, 56 Wn. App. 412, 419, 783 P.2d 1108 (1989), affirmed, 
115 Wn.2d 360, 798 P.2d 294 (1990). 

38 State v. Neal, 144 Wn 2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). 
39 kl (quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 

(1997)). 

11 
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Here, Officer Baughman testified that he recovered Stewart's gun from the 

sidewalk outside the dispensary. On examination of the gun, Baughman found 

bullets in the magazine but none in the chamber. 

STATE: And can you explain to us what you mean when you say 
there wasn't a round in the chamber? For those of us 
that maybe aren't familiar with guns, what does that 
mean? 

OFFICER: That requires an extra step to actually have the gun fire. 
You have to cycle the slide for a round to be in the 
chamber ... for it to function. That is generally how I 
would say most people carry pistols, but it is not 
uncommon for that to happen as weI1.r4o1 

Defense counsel objected to the final statement as an improper opinion and 

the court overruled the objection. Stewart testified that prior to entering the 

dispensary, he confirmed there was not a round in the chamber of the gun. He 

also testified that while inside the dispensary, his finger was never on the trigger 

"[b]ecause it was a staged robbery, there was no need to even have my finger on 

the trigger."41 

Stewart contends Officer Baughman's testimony that most people carry 

firearms without a roun_d in the chamber undermined his argument that he did not 

have a bullet in the chamber of the gun because he believed the robbery was 

staged. But evidence is not irrelevant or unhelpful to the jury merely because it is 

unfavorable to the defense. 

40 RP (Dec. 5, 2017) at 557. 
41 RP (Dec. 6, 2017) at 816. 

12 
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Under ER 401, evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the 

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action 

more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." The 

threshold for relevancy is extremely low under ER 401. 42 

Here, the question is whether Officer Baughman's testimony has any 

tendency to make the existence of Stewart's belief that the robbery was staged 

more or less probable. Just as Stewart's testimony is relevant to this inquiry, so is 

Officer Baughman's testimony. Because Officer's Baughman's testimony is 

relevant and helpful to the jury, the court did not abuse its discretion when it 

overruled defense counsel's objection. 

IV. Prosecutorial Misconduct 

Stewart argues the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the 

facts. 

We review prosecutorial misconduct claims for abuse of discretion.43 To 

prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant bears the burden of 

establishing that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial.44 

Any allegedly improper statements should be viewed within the 
context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the case, 
the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions. 
Prejudice on the part of the prosecutor is established only where 

42 See City of Kennewick v. Day, 142 Wn.2d 1, 8, 11 P.3d 304 (2000). 
43 State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 174, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). 
44 State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P .3d 43 (2011) (quoting 

State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174,191,189 P.3d 126 (2008)). 

13 
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"there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected 
the jury's verdict."[451 

At trial, on direct examination, Patterson testified that he told Stewart all the 

dispensary employees were "in on it."46 On cross-examination, Patterson admitted 

he did not tell police that information. 

STA TE: And so now today in court is the first time you are 
saying that everybody was in on this robbery? 

PATTERSON: Um-hum. I mean, my attorney said he was trying to 
talk to you and tell you about it, but you didn't want 
to hear it, because you wanted to know about 
another robbery or something.l47l 

On redirect examination, Patterson testified that prior to trial, he told 

multiple defense attorneys this information. 

During closing argument, the prosecutor argued, 

And Patterson's versions of events are similar, utterly lacking in 
credibility. He testified here in court for the defense that Sylve told 
him everyone was in on it; that he passed that information on to the 
defendant, who never even met Sylve. But you also heard that Mr. 
Patterson did not tell the story to the police when he was arrested. 
He did not tell this story to the police after he was charged with 
robbery, with kidnapping. He didn't tell this story as his case 
proceeded. He did not tell this story to the court when he pied guilty 
to robbery in the first degree with a firearm, when he pied guilty to 
unlawfully imprisoning Alaina and Makenna. It was not until he was 
called to testify by his friend John Stewart that he comes up with this 
story for the first time.1481 

45 State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559,578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003) (citing State 
v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)) (quoting Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 
672). 

46 RP (Dec. 6, 2017) at 752. 
47 J.si at 780. 
48 RP (Dec. 7, 2017) at 991-92. 
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Defense counsel objected and argued this was a misstatement of the facts. The 

court overruled the objection. 

"In closing argument, the prosecuting attorney has wide latitude to argue 

reasonable inferences from the evidence, including evidence respecting the 

credibility of witnesses."49 Given Patterson's inconsistent testimony, the 

prosecutor's argument concerning Patterson's credibility was a reasonable 

inference from the evidence. At most, the prosecutor misstated that "Patterson 

didn't tell this story as his case proceeded."50 This statement could be considered 

a misstatement of the evidence because Patterson testified he told his attorneys 

that everybody at the dispensary knew about the staged robbery. 

Assuming, without deciding, the prosecutor's argument was improper, 

Stewart does not establish prejudice from the minor misstatement. After the court 

overruled the defense objection, the prosecutor went on to emphasize "the 

physical evidence" and discuss the video surveillance footage. 51 

Additionally, before closing argument, the court orally instructed the jury, 

"You are the sole judges of credibility of each witness. You are also the sole 

judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness."52 The 

court also instructed the jury, 

49 Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 448. 
50 RP (Dec. 7, 2017) at 991. 
51 1st at 992. 
52 1st at 946. 
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The lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to 
help you under the evidence and apply the law. It is important, 
however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not 
evidence. The evidence is the testimony and exhibits. The law is 
contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, 
statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the 
law in my instructions.f53l 

To this point, when the court overruled the defense objection during closing 

argument, the court stated, "The jury will determine whether the argument is 

supported by the facts or not."54 In light of the instructions and the singular nature 

of the comment, Stewart fails to show a substantial likelihood the comment 

affected the jury's verdict. He does not establish prosecutorial misconduct. 

V. Statement of Additional Grounds 

RAP 10.10 permits a criminal defendant to file a pro se statement of 

additional grounds for review. "Reference to the record and citation to authorities 

are not necessary or required, but the appellate court will not consider a 

defendant's statement of additional grounds for review if it does not inform the 

court of the nature and occurrence of alleged errors."55 

a. Additional Ground No. 1-lnsufficient Evidence 

Stewart cites to the general rules concerning sufficiency of the evidence but 

does not state which of his convictions he challenges for insufficient evidence and 

he provides no argument. 

53 !st at 947. 
54 !st at 992. 
55 RAP 10.1 0(c). 
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b. Additional Ground No. 2-Prosecutorial Misconduct 

Stewart argues the prosecutor committed misconduct when he "showed 

three still photos enlarged to poster size, taken from a video the jury had already 

seen."56 He stated the "photos were of defendant holding a gun on the victims."57 

Stewart does not provide any citation to the record identifying the photographs. 

At trial, the State offered and the court admitted three screenshots, pulled 

from the surveillance video. Stewart did not object to the admission of these 

photographs. The record does not reveal any information about how or when 

these photos were published to the jury. 

c. Additional Ground Nos. 3 and 4-Jury Instructions 

Stewart raises two jury instruction challenges. First, Stewart argues the 

court should have instructed that jury unanimity was required on whether robbery 

was committed in furtherance of kidnapping. Stewart relies on State v. Green.58 

In Green, our Supreme Court considered whether a unanimity instruction was 

required when the defendant was charged with aggravated murder in the first 

degree committed in the furtherance of either first degree kidnapping or first 

degree rape. Our Supreme Court determined, "Where, as here, the commission of 

a specific underlying crime is necessary to sustain a conviction for a more serious 

statutory criminal offense, jury unanimity as to the underlying crime is 

56 Statement of Additional Grounds (SAG) at 1. 
57 kl 
58 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). 
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imperative."59 But unlike Green, a separate unanimity instruction is unnecessary 

here because the State separately charged kidnapping and robbery. 

Second, Stewart contends the court should have instructed the jury on theft. 

At the close of evidence, Stewart requested a jury instruction of first degree theft 

as a lesser included offense of first degree robbery. The court denied the request. 

As discussed above, "[a] defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser 

included offense when (1) each of the elements of the lesser included offense is a 

necessary element of the charged offense and (2) the evidence in the case 

supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed."60 This court has 

previously held "first degree theft is not a lesser included offense of first degree 

robbery."61 The court correctly denied Stewart's request for an instruction on theft. 

d. Additional Ground No. 5-Unconstitutionally Vague and Overbroad 

Stewart argues RCW 9A.40.020, the kidnapping statute, is 

unconstitutionally vague, ambiguous, and overboard. First, he argues 

RCW 9A.40.020 was "arbitrarily and subjectively enforced in his case."62 He cites 

two cases he contends are factually similar to his case but where the State 

declined to charge kidnapping. This illustrates the State's charging discretion 

rather than unconstitutional arbitrary enforcement. 

59 Id. at 233. 
60 Henderson, 182 Wn.2d at 742. 
61 State v. Roche, 75 Wn. App. 500, 511, 878 P.2d 497 (1994). 
62 SAG at 5. 
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Second, Stewart asserts RCW 9A.40.020 "lacks requisite definiteness or 

specificity needed for a person of ordinary intelligence to understand it."63 He cites 

to numerous cases concerning the burden of proving whether a kidnapping was 

incidental to the underlying felony, but these cases do not stand for the proposition 

that RCW 9A.40.020 is an unconstitutionally ambiguous statute. 

Third, Stewart contends the kidnapping statute is unconstitutionally 

overbroad because the conduct punished under the statute "is punishable under 

some other criminal provisions."64 But his arguments do not establish that 

RCW 9A.04.020 is unconstitutionally overly broad. 

Therefore, we affirm. 

WE CONCUR: 

63 1st at 7. 
64 J.sL at 10. 
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